UIdaho Law Digital Commons @ UIdaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

2-10-2010

Giltner Dairy, LLC. V. Jerome County Appellant's Brief Dckt. 36528

I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On April 13, 2009, the Honorable John K. Butler entered an Order granting Intervenor 93 Golf Ranch, LLC's motion to dismiss the Petition for Judicial Review filed by Petitioner Giltner Dairy, LLC based on lack of jurisdiction over the subject matter of the action. Memorandum Decision and Order Re: (1) Petitioner's Motion for Leave to File Second Amended Petition for Judicial Review; Petitioner's Motion for Stay of Proceedings; and (3) Intervenor's Motion to Dismiss. Petitioner timely appealed the Order to this Court.

II. CASE HISTORY

Petitioner owns and operates a dairy which is directly adjacent to the subject property. The Petitioner's operation, known as the Giltner Dairy, is approved for approximately 5,880 animal units and is fully operational. Several of the Giltner Dairy, LLC members reside on the dairy.

On July 24, 2008, Intervenor 93 Golf Ranch, LLC filed an application with the Jerome County Planning and Zoning Commission requesting a rezone which would result in amendments to the Jerome County Planning and Zoning Map. *Memorandum Decision and Order*, R. at 83. After holding several public hearings, the Commission voted to recommend that the application for rezone be denied. *Id.* at 83-84.

The Jerome County Board of Commissioners conducted a public hearing on the application for rezone on October 7, 2008. *Id.* at 84. On October 21, 2008, the Board voted to approve the application for rezone. *Id.* at 84. On November 10, 2008, the Board issued a *Memorandum Decision* approving the rezone and the resulting amendments to the Planning and

Zoning Map, and on December 15, 2008 approved Ordinance No. 2008-9 rezoning the Intervenor's property. *Id.* at 84. The effect of the amendment is to change various properties from A-1 to A-2 agricultural zoning.

As stated above, Giltner Dairy timely filed a petition for judicial review of the Board's decision, which was dismissed for lack of subject matter jurisdiction. *Petition for Judicial Review*, R. at 4-9; *Amended Petition for Judicial Review*, R. at 10-15; *Second Amended Petition for Judicial Review*, R. at 76-81. Giltner Dairy now seeks appellate review of the trial court's dismissal of the petition for judicial review.

III. ISSUES SUBJECT TO REVIEW

- 1. Whether the trial court erred in holding that it lacked jurisdiction to review the decision of the Jerome County Board of Commissioners to rezone the subject property.
- 2. Whether the grant of a right of judicial review of acts, orders, and procedures of a county board of commissioners in I.C. § 31-1506 applies to a decision of a county board of commissioners to approve a rezone application.

IV. STANDARD OF REVIEW

A party's right to judicial review is governed by statute. I.R.C.P. 84(a)(1); Cobbley v. City of Challis, 143 Idaho 130, 139 P.3d 732 (2006). The interpretation of a statute is a question of law over which this Court exercises free review. State v. Quick Transport, Inc.,

134 Idaho 240, 999 P.2d 895 (2000).

V. ARGUMENTS AND AUTHORITY

A. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN CONCLUDING THAT I.C. § 31-1506 DOES NOT CREATE A BROAD, GENERAL RIGHT TO JUDICIAL REVIEW OF A DECISION OF A COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS

APPELLANT'S BRIEF - 2

The trial court stated in its Order that "Chapter 15, Title 31 concerns county finances and claims against the county and it does not relate to or concern planning and zoning decisions which are specifically covered by the LLUPA." *Memorandum Decision and Order*, R. at 92. This Court's precedent clearly establishes that I.C. § 31-1506 creates a broad right to judicial review of an act, order, or proceeding of a county board of commissioners, and this right is not limited to any particular subject matter.

Prior to the current version of I.C. § 31-1506, the statute was designated as I.C. § 31-

1509 and in part, read as follows:

(A)ny time within twenty (20) days after the first publication or posting of the statement, as required by section 31-819, an appeal may be taken from any act, order or proceeding of the board (of county commissioners), by any person aggrieved thereby, or by any tax payer of the county when he deems any such act, order or proceeding illegal or prejudicial to the public interests.

V-1 Oil Co. v. Bannock County, 97 Idaho 807, 809, 554 P.2d 1304, 1306 (1976) (citing prior version of I. C. § 31-1509 renumbered as I.C. § 31-1506 in 1995). Considering this prior

version of I.C. § 31-1509, the Idaho Court of Appeals held:

At first glance, I.C. § 31-1509 might appear to be specifically tailored to appeals from the Board of County Commissioners' decisions on county finances and claims against the county. However, a close reading discloses no language explicitly limiting the statute to such appeals. Indeed, the case-law history of the statute reveals that appeals have been allowed from a broad spectrum of decisions and orders. Because the statute on its face does not exclude any particular subject matter of appeal, and because it has been given broad construction by our Supreme Court, we are constrained to view I.C. § 31-1509 [renumbered as 31-1506] as providing a county taxpayer with the right to appeal any act, order or proceeding of the commissioners when any such

act, order or proceeding is illegal or prejudicial to public interests.

Fox v. Board of County Commissioners, 114 Idaho 940, 763 P.2d (1988) (overruled in part on other grounds in 121 Idaho 684, 827 P.2d 697).

The language of I.C. § 31-1509 was thereafter amended to read in its current form in 1993 or 1994 which set forth:

JUDICIAL REVIEW OF BOARD DECISIONS.

- (1) Unless otherwise provided by law, judicial review of any act, order or proceeding of the board shall be initiated by any person aggrieved thereby within the same time and in the same manner as provided in chapter 52, title 67, Idaho Code, for judicial review of actions.
- (2) Venue for judicial review of board actions shall be in the district court of the county governed by the board.

See S.L. 1995, ch. 61, § 11. The statute was renumbered to I.C. § 31-1506 in 1995. *Id.* Despite the change in statutory language made by the legislature, the Idaho courts have continued to construe Idaho Code § 31-1506, in its current form, as a broad grant of authority for review of county actions.

In 2003, in the case Sandpoint Independent Highway District v. Board of County Commissioners of Bonner County, 138 Idaho 887 (2003), this Court confirmed the current version of I.C. § 31-1506 is a broad grant of authority for judicial review. The Court held that although "Chapter 18, Title 40 of the Idaho Code which concerns dissolution of highway districts, makes no provision for the review of the Commissioners' decision," a petition for judicial review was proper in the District Court pursuant to I.C. § 31-1506. Sandpoint Highway District, 138 Idaho at 890 (finding subject matter jurisdiction under I.C. § 31-1506).

Similarly, in Allen v. Blaine County, 131 Idaho 138 (1998), this Court recognized a

broad grant of authority for review under I.C. § 31-1506:

Under the Idaho Administrative Procedure Act (IDAPA), a party who has been aggrieved by a final agency action may file a petition for review or declaratory judgment in the district court of the appropriate county after exhausting all administrative remedies. I.C. §§ 67-5270 – 5272. Under the IDAPA, "agency" is defined as "each state board, commission, department or officer authorized by law to make rules or to determine contested cases." I.C. § 67-5201(2). Although a county board of commissioners does not fall within this definition, a decision by a county board of commissioners is subject to judicial review "in the same manner as provided in [Idaho's Administrative Procedure Act]." I.C. § 31-1506(1). Thus, a county board of commissioners is treated as an administrative agency for purposes of judicial review.

Allen, 131 Idaho at 140 (citations and quotations in original).

This Court has further indicated that judicial review provides subject matter jurisdiction for review of any county action. In *Gibson v. Ada County Sheriff*, 139 Idaho 5 (2003), a county employee was discharged by the sheriff's department for misconduct. After administrative review by the department, she sought judicial review of her termination. *Id.* The Court found that the petitioner had no right of review of the administrative decision made by the sheriff's department. *Id.* The court then went on to hold:

department. Id. The court then went on to hold:

Notably, had Gibson appealed the county personnel hearing officer's decision to the Ada County Board of Commissioners (board), the board's decision would be an appropriate subject for judicial review and the IAPA standard of review would apply. I.C. § 31-1506(1). Without action of the board, however, the judicial review provisions of I.C. § 31-1506(1) are inapplicable.

Id. at 8 (*citations in original*). See also I.C. § 31-3505G (requiring additional specific appellate proceeding before board before judicial review under I.C. § 31-1506).

APPELLANT'S BRIEF - 5

This finding was subsequently affirmed in a second appeal made by Gibson where the Court once again recognized:

Idaho Code § 31-1506 provides that a person is entitled to initiate judicial review of any "act, order or proceeding" of the Board and the merits of the subject matter would be subject to review of and the IAPA standard of review would apply.

Gibson v. Ada County, 142 Idaho 746, 756 (2006). The Court found that the provisions of I.C. § 31-1506(1) were not applicable to the petitioner's case because there was no authority of the "Board of County Commissioners to review the personnel decision of other elected County officers." *Id.* Had the County Commissioners had authority to take action, the Court indicated that jurisdiction would have been appropriate.

Thus, it is well established that the right of judicial review created in I.C. § 31-1506 is a broad grant of jurisdiction to review any action, order or proceeding of a county board of commissioners and is not limited to any particular subject matter. To the extent the trial court concluded this section pertains only to county finances or claims against the county, it was in error.

B. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN CONCLUDING THAT APPLICATION OF I.C. § 31-1506 TO REZONING DECISIONS OF A COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS CONFLICTS WITH THE LOCAL LAND USE PLANNING ACT

I.C. § 31-1506 provides for judicial review of any act, order, or proceeding of a county board of commissioners "unless otherwise provided by law." The trial court concluded that this section does not provide a right to judicial review of planning and zoning decisions of a board of commissioners because these are covered under the Local Land Use Planning Act (LLUPA), I.C. § 67-6501 et seq., and LLUPA does not provide a right of judicial review of the grant or denial of a rezone application. *Memorandum Decision and Order*, R. at 93-94.

The judicial review provision of the LLUPA is found in I.C. § 67-6521. This section sets forth procedures for persons adversely affected by the issuance or denial of a permit authorizing development. Such a person may petition the governing board to hold a hearing under § 67-6512, and after all remedies have been exhausted under local ordinances may seek judicial review as provided in chapter 52, title 67, Idaho Code, the Idaho Administrative Procedure Act. In *Giltner Dairy, LLC v. Jerome County*, 145 Idaho 630, 181 P.3d 1238 (2008), this Court held that the judicial review provisions of the LLUPA are inapplicable to a county's decision to amend a comprehensive plan map. These provisions are applicable only to "a permit required or authorized under this chapter," and "[a] request to change the comprehensive plan map is not an application for a permit." *Id.* at 633. This Court expanded on its holding in *Giltner* in *Burns Holdings, LLC v. Madison County Board of County Commissioners*, 147 Idaho 660, 214 P.3d 646 (2009). In this case, this Court held that an application for a rezone, like an application to amend a comprehensive plan map, is not a "permit authorizing development" and thus judicial review is not authorized under LLUPA. *Id.* at 649.

While it is clear under this Court's recent decisions that the LLUPA does not create a right to judicial review of a decision on an application for a rezone, this does not foreclose the possibility that other provisions of the Idaho Code may create a right to judicial review. The LLUPA establishes a set of procedures for judicial review of decisions of local governing boards concerning the permitting process, including the right to request a hearing and the right to seek judicial review of a final decision on a permit authorizing development within the

specified time frame. The LLUPA does not contain any provision that prohibits judicial review of a decision on an application for rezone, or a decision to amend a comprehensive plan map. It simply does not create a right to judicial review of these actions, because its judicial review provisions and their accompanying procedures are applicable only to decisions regarding permits. This does not create a conflict with other provisions of the code that could authorize judicial review of these actions, because the LLUPA itself is silent on whether judicial review of a rezone or comprehensive plan amendment is permissible. Specifically, I.C. § 31-1506, which creates a broad, general right to judicial review of any action or order of a board of county commissioners "unless otherwise provided by law," does not conflict with the LLUPA because the LLUPA does not provide that judicial review of an application for rezone or comprehensive plan amendment is unauthorized; it simply does not create a right to judicial review of these actions. The trial court erred in concluding that these provisions conflict with one another.

This Court has found in the past that if a statute does not create a specific right to judicial review, it is possible to resort to the general right of judicial review created by § 31-1506 if action by a county board of commissioners is involved. In *Sandpoint Independent Highway District v. Board of Commissioners of Bonner County*, discussed above, the Court applied § 31-1506 as the basis for review of the decision of a county board of commissioners to dissolve a highway district. The Court held that as chapter 18, title 40 of the Idaho Code concerning dissolution of highway districts makes no provision for judicial review, a petition for judicial review was proper in the district court under § 31-1506. *Sandpoint Highway District*, 138 Idaho at 890. Likewise, the LLUPA makes no provision for judicial review of an

application for rezone, but as an action of a county board of commissioners is involved judicial review is authorized by § 31-1506.

The trial court correctly points out that there is no case law in which 1.C. § 31-1506 was used as the statutory authority for judicial review of the decision of a board of commissioners on an application for rezone. *Memorandum Decision and Order*, R. at 93. This is easily explained by the fact that prior to this Court's recent decision in *Burns Holdings, LLC v. Madison County Board of County Commissioners* such decisions were reviewable under the judicial review provisions of the LLUPA. Petitioner has sought to use § 31-1506 as an alternative basis for jurisdiction because the judicial review provisions of the LLUPA are no longer available for review of a board of commissioners' decision on an application for rezone. I.R.C.P. 84(a)(1) provides that "actions of . . . local government, its officers or its units are not subject to judicial review unless expressly authorized by statute." I.C. § 31-1506 is a statute that expressly authorizes judicial review of actions of a county board of commissioners, and no provision of the LLUPA renders it inapplicable.

VI. CONCLUSION

Idaho Code § 31-1506 creates a broad, general right to judicial review of any act, order, or proceeding of a county board of commissioners unless otherwise provided by law. This right to judicial review is not limited to any particular subject matter, but applies across a broad spectrum of actions by a county board of commissioners. While it is now established that the judicial review provisions of the LLUPA are inoperable to provide a right of judicial review of a comprehensive plan amendment or action on an application for rezone, no provision of the

LLUPA prohibits judicial review of these actions. In the absence of a contrary provision of law, I.C. § 31-1506 provides alternative statutory authority for judicial review of a county board of commissioners action on an application for rezone.

The Order of the District Court dismissing the petition for judicial review due to lack of subject matter jurisdiction should be reversed.