# Uldaho Law Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

3-9-2010

# Giltner Dairy, LLC. V. Jerome County Respondent's Brief 1 Dckt. 36528

## I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

## A. Nature of the Case

Appellant, Giltner Dairy, LLC ("Giltner"), has presented the Court with an abbreviated statement of the case and its history. Intervenor, 93 Golf Ranch, LLC ("Golf Ranch"), believes that the district court's FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND contained in its Memorandum Decision more completely sets forth the entire proceedings that took place with regard to this matter. R., pp. 83-85.

## II. ADDITIONAL ISSUES ON APPEAL

- 1. Has the Idaho Supreme Court already ruled that . . . "there is no statute authorizing judicial review of a county's action regarding a rezone application" in *Burns Holdings, LLC v.*Madison County Board of Comm'rs, 147 Idaho 660, 214 P.3d 646 (2009)?
- 2. If Giltner's Petition is not well grounded in fact, and warranted by existing law, should Golf Ranch be awarded its reasonable expenses and attorney's fees pursuant to Idaho Appellate Rule 11.2?

#### III. ARGUMENT

# A. Idaho Code § 31-1506 is Not Applicable to a Rezone Under LLUPA.

After originally seeking judicial review pursuant to I.C. § 67-6521, Giltner amended its Petition for Judicial Review ("Petition") on the basis of Idaho Code § 31-1506(1). Although Idaho Code § 67-6511 expressly provides governing bodies with discretion and authority to amend their zoning districts, Giltner apparently recognized that such an amendment does not constitute a "permit" that allows a property owner to take immediate steps to permanently alter the land. Idaho Code § 31-1506, as codified in Chapter 15 entitled "County Finances and Claims Against Counties," provides:

26

Unless otherwise provided by law, judicial review of any act, order or proceeding of the board shall be initiated by any person aggrieved thereby within the same time and in the same manner as provided in chapter 52, title 67, Idaho Code, for judicial review of actions.

Giltner argued at the hearing of this matter that the predecessor of this statute, Idaho Code § 31-1509, had been part of Idaho's law for decades, and that it should serve as the basis for a judicial review of a rezone decision. A copy of the statute as it existed in 1983 is attached hereto as Exhibit "A" showing that it was first adopted in the late 1800's as R.S. § 1776, and first amended in 1895. The statute was amended and redesignated as I.C. § 31-1506 in 1994.

Golf Ranch can find no instance where the Idaho Supreme Court has ever sanctioned or acknowledged the use of this code section as the basis for an appeal of a rezone or any other quasi-judicial decision of a governing board. Giltner has directed this court to Fox v. Board of County Comm'rs of Boundary Co., 114 Idaho 940, 763 P.2d 313 (Ct. App. 1988) (overruled in part on other grounds in 121 Idaho 686, 827 P.2d 699 (Ct. App. 1991)) in support of its argument. Fox involved an appeal of the Boundary County Board of Commissioners' renewal of two beer licenses. In construing Idaho Code § 31-1509, the predecessor to Idaho Code § 31-1506, the Idaho Court of Appeals stated:

> . . . [W]e are constrained to view I.C. § 31-1509 as providing a county taxpayer with the right to appeal any act, order or proceeding of the commissioners when any such act, order or proceeding is illegal or prejudicial to the public interest.

(Emphasis added). 114 Idaho at 943. Giltner has not asserted in its Petition that the rezone decision of Jerome County was illegal or prejudicial to the public interest as was required by the predecessor statute. Golf Ranch suggests that the instant rezone decision does not meet the Court of Appeals' standard of an "act, order or proceeding [that] is illegal or prejudicial to the public interest," which was the standard previously articulated in I.C. § 31-1509.

Giltner has cited Sandpoint Independent Highway District v. Board of County Comm'rs of Bonner County, 138 Idaho 887, 71 P.3d 1034 (2003) as support for the proposition that Idaho

つん

Code § 31-1506 may be used to review a quasi-judicial zoning decision. That case involved the board's administrative determination to hold an election relative to the dissolution of the Sandpoint Independent Highway District pursuant to Idaho Code § 40-1805. Once the petition to dissolve the district had been submitted to the board, its role was administrative in nature to submit the matter to the qualified electors of the district. As will be discussed, *infra*, Idaho Code § 31-1506 was intended for review of administrative decisions, and there is no evidence that the statute was ever intended to be utilized to review quasi-judicial decisions.

Giltner has referred the Court to Allen v. Blaine County, 131 Idaho 138, 953 P.2d 578 (1998) as further support for its position. The Allen case was styled as both a declaratory judgment action and a judicial review of Blaine County's denial of the Allens' application to build a rental home on a lot that had been platted as a "non-buildable lot." In keeping with the legislative intent as described in the legislative history, the county was acting in a purely administrative role in applying the plat restrictions to the Allens' property. It cannot seriously be argued that the county's application of that language in this instance constituted a quasi-judicial zoning action. As stated by the Court:

When interpreting the meaning of statutory language, the Court is to give effect to the legislative intent and purpose of the statute. (Citations omitted). . . . "The legislature's intent in enacting the statute may be implied from the language used or inferred on grounds of policy or reasonableness" (Citations omitted).

Allen, supra, 131 Idaho at 141.

Although Giltner makes reference to *Gibson v. Ada County*, 139 Idaho 5, 72 P.3d 845 (2003), the later case of *Gibson v. Ada County*, 142 Idaho 746, 133 P.3d 1211 (2006) (reh. den. 2006) more fully addresses Idaho Code § 31-1506. That case involved an administrative personnel decision involving the Ada County Sheriff's Office in which the board refused to review the sheriff's decision to terminate Gibson's employment. The Court discussed the interplay of I.R.C.P. Rule 84 and Idaho Code § 31-1506 and reiterated the content of I.R.C.P. Rule 84:

7 4

Actions of state agencies or officers or actions of a local government, its officers or its units are not subject to judicial review unless expressly authorized by statute.

## 133 P.3d at 1221. As stated in Burns, supra:

There is no specific grant of authority to review the Board's action with respect to the request for rezone, and we may not assume the role of the legislature and grant that authority to ourselves.

214 P.3d at 649. Giltner's reliance on *Gibson* does not overcome this Court's holding in *Burns*, *supra*. Although Giltner argues that Idaho Code § 31-1506 expressly authorizes judicial review of a county's rezoning decision, Giltner completely ignores the Court's holding in *Burns*, *supra*. If Giltner's position were to be sustained, the aforementioned holding in *Burns*, *supra*, would necessarily have to be overruled. Of course, that would present an untenable situation leaving rezoning decisions of only a county's governing board amenable to judicial review, while a municipality's rezoning decisions would not be subject to judicial review. Giltner was never able to adequately address this anomaly at the district court, although the issue was certainly raised by Golf Ranch in its Memorandum. R., p. 71-2.

Giltner originally suggested to the district court that the case of Eastern Idaho Health Services, Inc. v. Burtenshaw, 122 Idaho 904, 841 P.2d 434 (1992), somehow supported its position that an appeal of a rezone or land use decision could be challenged under Idaho Code § 31-1506. That decision dealt with a taxpayer's appeal of a board of county commissioners' refusal to grant a refund of penalty and interest on delinquent ad valorem taxes. Golf Ranch does not believe that Eastern Idaho lends any support to Giltner's arguments. Had the Idaho Legislature intended that an amendment of a zoning district under LLUPA could be appealed pursuant to a code section in the county finance portion of the Idaho Code, the legislature presumably would have so stated. Had the Idaho Supreme Court ever interpreted Idaho Code § 31-1506 as being the appropriate mechanism for review of a zoning decision, there certainly would have been prior reported case law setting forth that proposition. However, if that had been the interpretation accorded to that statute by the Idaho Supreme Court, it would have

8

25

presented the Court with an untenable inconsistency, since the Local Land Use Planning Act ("LLUPA") provides that each "governing board" is entitled to adopt, amend or repeal its zoning ordinance and districts. See Idaho Code § 67-6511. Idaho Code § 67-6504 expressly states:

> A city council or board of county commissioners, hereafter referred to as a governing board, may exercise all of the powers required and authorized by this chapter in accordance with this chapter.

Idaho Code § 31-1506(1), by its own terms, is limited solely in its application to a county board of commissioners to the exclusion of a city council. Under Giltner's interpretation of Idaho Code § 31-1506, a rezone decision of a county board of commissioners made pursuant to LLUPA would be subject to judicial review, but a rezone decision by a city council would not be similarly reviewable.

#### B. **Statutory Construction.**

In City of Sandpoint v. Sandpoint Independent Highway District, 139 Idaho 65, 72 P.3d 905 (2003), the Idaho Supreme Court discussed statutory construction relative to a determination of what the legislature intended a statute to mean. The Court stated:

> To determine that [statutory] intent, we examine not only the literal words of the statute, but also the reasonableness of proposed constructions, the public policy behind the statute, and its legislative history. (Citations omitted). Statues [sic-statutes] that are in pari materia must be construed together to effect legislative intent. Gooding County v. Wybenga, 137 Idaho 201, 46 P.3d 18 (2002). Statutes are in pari materia if they relate to the same subject.

Id. 139 Idaho at 69. Continuing, the Sandpoint Court stated:

Where a statute with respect to one subject contains a certain provision, the omission of such provision from a similar statute concerning a related subject is significant to show that a different intention existed. Kopp v. State, 100 Idaho 160, 595 P.2d 309 (1979).

Id. Idaho Code § 31-1509, the predecessor statute to Idaho Code § 31-1506, was amended in

1993 and 1994. The legislative "STATEMENT OF PURPOSE/FISCAL IMPACT" statements for each year are attached hereto as Exhibits "B" and "C", respectively. In the STATEMENT OF PURPOSE for the 1993 amendment, the following may be noted:

The current process for appeals is archaic and inconsistent with other sections of county law. The planning and zoning and medical indigency appeals are conducted as appeals under the APA.

The types of decisions that are appealed are **administrative** or executive in nature, and the more appropriate method would be to use the APA.

(Emphasis added).

In 1994, the language in the STATEMENT OF PURPOSE mirrored portions of the 1993 amendment:

The types of decisions that are appealed are administrative or executive in nature.

There can be no doubt that a rezoning decision by a governing board is quasi-judicial in character, and neither "administrative or executive." The legislative history of this statute does not tend to support the arguments of Giltner in this proceeding.

The concept of the LLUPA, i.e., the regulation of land use, was never in the contemplation of the Idaho Legislature at the time of the original adoption of Idaho Code § 31-1509 in the late 1800's. The fact that this Court has expressly determined that LLUPA did not include a specific statute authorizing judicial review of a zoning district amendment should be regarded as purposeful, and evidences a different legislative interpretation than that which is advocated by Giltner relative to the applicability of Idaho Code § 31-1506. As late as last year, the Idaho Supreme Court stated as much in *Burns, supra*, 147 Idaho 660, 214 P.3d 646 (2009).

The Court stated:

Even so, there was no right of judicial review of the Board's action with respect to the rezone application because, as with the application for an amendment to the comprehensive plan, there is no statute authorizing judicial review of a county's action regarding a rezone application.

(Emphasis added). 214 P.3d at 649. The Court vacated the district court's decision in *Burns Holding*, supra, and dismissed the judicial review.

In discussing statutes that are *in pari materia*, the Idaho Supreme Court discussed two different statutory provisions relating to "conflict of interest" in *Gooding County v. Wybenga*, 137 Idaho 201, 46 P.3d 18 (2002). In that case, the Court stated:

Statutes are in pari materia if they relate to the same subject. Grand Canyon Dories v. Idaho State Tax Commission, 124 Idaho 1, 855 P.2d 462 (1993). Such statutes are construed together to effect legislative intent. Id. Where two statutes appear to apply to the same case or subject matter, the specific statute will control over the more general statute. State v. Barnes, 133 Idaho 378, 987 P.2d 290 (1999).

137 Idaho at 204. See also V-1 Oil Company v. Idaho Transportation Department, 131 Idaho 482, 959 P.2d 463 (1998).

In the instant case, the specific statute, i.e., LLUPA, describes all the land use actions which "governing boards, whether a county board of commissioners or a city council" are entitled to take, and further describes which of those actions constitutes a "permit" that is subject to a judicial review. There can be no doubt but that the LLUPA is the more specific statute when it comes to land use issues, and the judicial review of a local governing body's decision in that regard. Since a zoning district amendment does not constitute a "permit", as defined in LLUPA, the Court must necessarily conclude that the legislature intended to omit that action by a governing board from the scope of judicial review. Clearly, a neighbor such as Giltner would have the opportunity to perfect an appeal at the time a subdivision approval permit has been approved consistent with the zoning amendment.

21

22 23

24

25 26

Because Idaho's adoption of the LLUPA came after Idaho Code § 31-1509, the predecessor statute to Idaho Code § 31-1506, and because the LLUPA articulated those land use decisions which were reviewable pursuant to a petition for judicial review, Golf Ranch asserts that a zoning district amendment is ejusdem generis. That term relates to statutory construction where general words follow an enumeration of persons or things specifically mentioned. In addition, the maxim of statutory interpretation of expressio unius est exclusio alterius denotes that the expression of one thing is the exclusion of another. The LLUPA specifically identifies those land use actions of a governing board which are amenable to a judicial review, but does not include a zoning district amendment, an action which does not result in the issuance of a "permit". To the extent that courts of this state may have previously extended a judicial review under LLUPA to a zoning district amendment, the courts may have to acknowledge that such review was statutorily inappropriate. For example, Chief Justice Donaldson wrote in Love v. Board of County Comm'rs of Bingham Co., 105 Idaho 558, 671 P.2d 471 (1983):

> Under I.C. § 67-6521, the district court was empowered to review on appeal the rezoning decision of the County Commissioners. Hill v. Board of County Comm'rs, 101 Idaho 850, 623 P.2d 462 (1981); Walker-Schmidt Ranch v. Blaine Co., 101 Idaho 420, 614 P.2d 960 (1980); Cooper v. Board of County Comm'rs, 101 Idaho 407, 614 P.2d 947 (1980).

105 Idaho at 559. That same issue was discussed in Justice Jim Jones' dissenting opinion in Burns, supra, in which Justice Burdick concurred:

> Indeed, following the enactment of LLUPA in 1975, this Court consistently held for over a quarter of a century that LLUPA authorized judicial review of county zoning decisions under either Idaho Code § 67-6519 or Idaho Code § 67-6521. . . . Zoning actions that were legislative in nature, i.e., those affecting "a large area consisting of many parcels of property and disparate ownership," were not reviewable under either pre- or post-LLUPA.

> These cases were good law for 25 years. The Court has routinely held quasi-judicial zoning decisions, such as that involved in this case to be reviewable under LLUPA until the Court's 2008 decision in Highlands Development Corp. v. City of

18 19

20 21

22

23

24

25

26

Boise, 145 Idaho 958, 188 P.3d 900 (2008). There, the Court decided that LLUPA contained "no provision granting judicial review of the initial zoning classification applied to annexed property." Id. at 961, 188 P.3d at 903. Today, the Court expands the Highlands decision to preclude judicial review of any zoning decision under LLUPA.

## 214 P.3d at 650-51. The majority in *Burns*, *supra*, stated:

There is no specific grant of authority to review the Board's action with respect to the request for rezone, and we may not assume the role of the legislature and grant that authority to ourselves.

### 214 P.3d at 649.

If anything seems clear, it appears that the district court's logic in dismissing Giltner's Second Amended Petition for Judicial Review due to a lack of subject matter jurisdiction was entirely appropriate. R., pp. 92-94. The district court's decision predated this Court's decision in Burns, supra, but squares clearly with the Court's language that "... there is no statute authorizing judicial review of a county's action regarding a rezone application." 214 P.3d at 649.

### IV. ATTORNEY'S FEES

In Giltner Dairy, LLC v. Jerome County, 145 Idaho 630, 181 P.3d 1238 (2008) ("Giltner I''), the Court had before it the very same party as the petitioner in this proceeding. Giltner was represented by the very same law firm then as it is in the instant case. Although Giltner I involved an amendment to the comprehensive plan relating to the very same property at issue in the instant case. Giltner and its counsel were advised:

> A request to change the comprehensive plan map is not an application for a permit, and Giltner Dairy admits there was no application for a permit in this case. Therefore, Idaho Code § 67-6519 does not provide any right to obtain judicial review in this case.

181 P.3d at 1241. In pursuit of its appeal, Giltner has now advanced the logic that Idaho Code

§ 31-1506 should serve as the jurisdictional basis to provide judicial review for a land use rezoning decision, even though it would apply only to the governing board of a county, and not a city. Shortly after Giltner's appeal was filed, but prior to the issuance of the Clerk's Certificate (R., p. 105), this Court issued its decision in *Burns, supra*, which clearly stated:

. . . [T]here is no statute authorizing judicial review of a county's action regarding a rezone application.

214 P.3d at 649. The continued pursuit of the instant appeal is not well grounded in fact, and is not warranted by existing law. Although Giltner has cursorily cited *Burns, supra*, in its Appellant's Brief at p. 7 and p. 9, Giltner never acknowledged the Court's statement set forth above. Giltner has done nothing in the way of asserting a good faith argument for the "extension, modification, or reversal of existing law." Golf Ranch is only too aware of Giltner's thinly veiled plan to cause Golf Ranch unnecessary delay in the development of its property. The application which gave rise to *Giltner I* was filed on November 4, 2005. R., p. 83. The rezone process that is the subject of this Petition for Judicial Review began on July 24, 2008. *Id.* Golf Ranch contends that the provisions of I.A.R. Rule 11.2 are applicable to the facts of this case, and that Golf Ranch should be awarded its reasonable expenses and attorneys fees in accordance with that rule.

#### V. CONCLUSION

Jurisdiction to review the Board of Commissioners' decision to rezone the subject property does not exist pursuant to either Idaho Code § 67-6521 or Idaho Code § 31-1506. Subject matter jurisdiction is lacking under either statute. Golf Ranch requests that the decision of the district court dismissing Giltner's Petition for Judicial Review in this matter be affirmed. Furthermore, Golf Ranch requests that this Court make the requisite determinations pursuant to

I.A.R. Rule 11.2 in order to allow for an award of costs and attorney fees to Golf Ranch.